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GOVERNMENT’S TRIAL BRIEF 
 

The government submits this trial brief to outline the government’s case-in-chief 

and to discuss how the government intends to prove the charges in the indictment beyond 

a reasonable doubt.  The government expects its presentation of evidence to take 

approximately three days, exclusive of rebuttal, if any.   

A. The government’s case 

Bart Wade Reagor is charged with Bank Fraud and Aiding and Abetting, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1344(2) and 2 (Counts One and Two), and False Statement to a 

Bank and Aiding and Abetting, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1014 and 2 (Count Three).  

The evidence, outlined further herein, will show that the charges stem from conduct that 

occurred at least beginning in October 2016 and continuing through February 2018, when 

Reagor sought and obtained funding for the Reagor-Dykes Auto Group entities (RDAG) 

via a commercial loan.  Because of rapid expansion, RDAG was in a weak cash position.  

A negative floor-plan audit exacerbated that weakness.  Reagor thus sought additional 

capital to fund operations.  Following negotiations with International Bank of Commerce 

of Oklahoma (IBC), Reagor executed a loan agreement for a $10,000,000.00 working-

capital loan and the consolidation of RDAG’s real-estate debt into a second loan in an 

amended amount of $25,000,000.  The loan agreement provided that the loan’s purpose 

was for “working capital” and that the loan proceeds would be advanced in two tranches.  

Prior to the finalization of the loan and contrary to the represented purpose in obtaining 

Case 2:21-cr-00025-Z-BR   Document 42   Filed 09/21/21    Page 4 of 17   PageID 171Case 2:21-cr-00025-Z-BR   Document 42   Filed 09/21/21    Page 4 of 17   PageID 171



2 

 

the loan, Reagor directed Chief Financial Officer Shane Smith to divert a portion of each 

disbursement to Reagor personally.1  After the loan was finalized and disbursements 

issued, Smith did as directed, and Reagor deposited portions of the loan proceeds into his 

personal account at Prosperity Bank.  The portions of the loan proceeds diverted to 

Reagor were not, and were never intended by Reagor, to be used as “working capital” for 

RDAG, but instead, were intended to enrich himself. 

B. The government’s witnesses  

The government anticipates calling the following witnesses, who will provide 

testimonial and documentary evidence.2  The witnesses are listed in the order the 

Government anticipates calling them.3 

Witness Role 

William (Bill) Patrick 
Schonacher 

President and Chief Executive Officer of IBC Bank in 
Oklahoma, which extended the working-capital loan  
 

Thomas Hutchison Oklahoma attorney who was the primary drafter of the 
IBC loan agreement and is an expert in commercial 
lending transactions 
 

 

1 Reagor also directed Smith to distribute the same portion of the proceeds to Rick Dykes.  
Dykes was copied on the email message directing those personal distributions.  Dykes is not 
currently charged with any offense. 

2 Government’s Witness List, Dkt. No. 36. 
 
3 In making this representation, the government does not intend to waive its right to revise its trial 

strategy regarding its witness order or the proposed content of their testimony.  The government is simply 
making a good-faith effort to inform the Court and the defendant of what it currently expects to present. 
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William Woodring Former Vice President at IBC Bank, which extended the 
working-capital loan 
 

Shane Smith Former Chief Financial Officer for RDAG; cooperating 
witness who previously pled guilty to wire fraud 
 

Steven Anthony Reinhart Former Legal and Compliance Director for RDAG; 
cooperating witness who previously pled guilty to 
misprision of a felony 
 

John Whitworth Former Federal Bureau of Investigation agent and current 
contractor as Senior Financial Investigator for Chenega 
Worldwide Support 
 

Steven Dawson Certified Public Accountant and Certified Fraud 
Examiner; expert in forensic accounting 
 

 
As indicated on the list above, the government intends to offer expert testimony.   

Under Fed. R. Evid. 702, a witness who is “qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, 

experience, training, or education” may testify if the witness’s “scientific, technical, or 

other specialized knowledge” will assist the trier of fact—here, the jury—“to understand 

the evidence or to determine a fact in issue[.]”  As described in its expert witness 

disclosures, the government has designated two experts, Thomas Hutchison and Steve 

Dawson.  (Dkt Nos. 32-33.) 

Thomas Hutchison is an attorney in Oklahoma who has extensive experience in 

commercial lending generally and was the primary drafter of the loan agreement in this 

case.  He will testify as both a fact witness and an expert witness.  See United States v. 

Haines, 803 F.3d 713 (5th Cir. 2015) (observing that an individual can serve as both a 
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fact witness and provide expert testimony regarding specialized knowledge that will 

assist the jury in its understanding of the evidence); see also United States v. Riddle, 103 

F.3d 423, 429 (5th Cir. 1997) (finding error where the government solicited testimony 

regarding generalized knowledge of prudent banking practices, including opinion 

testimony, from a fact witness who had not been designated or qualified as an expert).  

Factually, Hutchison will describe his work on the loan agreement, discuss the 

agreement’s terms and provisions, and explain his interactions with RDAG 

representatives.  As an expert, Hutchison may discuss commercial lending practices,  

loan agreements generally, and the meaning of the term “working capital.”  He will 

provide his opinion that an immediate distribution of loan proceeds to a personal account 

is inconsistent with the loan’s purpose as “working capital.”   

Steve Dawson is a certified public accountant and certified fraud examiner who 

reviewed the evidence in this case.  He will offer testimony to help the jury understand 

the loan documents in this case, the meaning of “working capital,” and why RDAG 

needed “working capital.”   He may also discuss the corporate structure of RDAG, the 

pass-through nature of distributions and taxable income, and the concepts of owner 

draws, owner draw receivables, and owner capital accounts and distributions.  He will 

render his opinion that an immediate distribution of loan proceeds to a personal account 

is inconsistent with the loan’s purpose as “working capital.”  Dawson will also discuss 

account tracing methodologies and provide his expert opinion that the tracing analysis in 
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this case was in accordance with the standards used by professionals in forensic 

accounting.  These topics require specialized knowledge, would assist the jury in 

understanding the evidence, and otherwise meet the standards for admissibility of expert 

testimony. 

C. The government’s exhibits  

The government anticipates offering the following exhibits at trial:4 

Govt. 
Exhibit 

Item Sponsor Support 

1-15 IBC records, including 
full subpoena returns 
and affidavit, (GX 1, 
8); selected items 
related to the IBC loan 
and related accounts, 
(GX 2-6, 9-15); and 
proof of FDIC-insured 
status (GX 7).  

Business 
record 
affidavit or 
Schonacher 

Business records are generally admissible 
as an exception to the hearsay rule.  Fed. 
R. Evid. 803(6).  The proponent of the 
record must show, either through a live 
witness or a certification that meets the 
requirements of Fed. R. Evid. 902(11) or 
(12), that: (1) the record was made at or 
near the time by, or from information 
transmitted by, a person with knowledge; 
(2) the record was kept in the course of a 
regularly conducted business activity; and 
(3) it was the regular practice of that 
business activity to make the record.  
United States v. Ned, 637 F.3d 562, 569 
(5th Cir. 2011). The witness who lays the 
foundation for the admission of a record is 
not required to be the author of the record 
or to personally attest to its accuracy.  
United States v. Armstrong, 619 F.3d 380, 
384-85 (5th Cir. 2010).  Instead, the 
witness should be able to explain the 

 

4 Government’s Exhibit List, Dkt. No. 35.  
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record-keeping system and attest that the 
requirements of the business records 
exception are met.  United States v. Jones, 
554 F.2d 251, 252 (5th Cir. 1977). 
 

16-23 FirstCapital Bank of 
Texas records, 
including full 
subpoena returns and 
affidavit, (GX 16); 
selected items related 
to account ending in 
#0991 (GX 17-18, 20-
22); and checks #6332 
(GX 19) and #7247 
(GX 23)   

Business 
records 
affidavit or 
records 
custodian 

Fed. R. Evid. 803(6) (business records) 

24-30 Prosperity Bank 
records, including full 
subpoena returns and 
affidavit, (GX 24); 
selected items related 
to Reagor’s personal 
account ending in 
#7569, including 
signature card, (GX 
25); statements from 
July 2017 through 
October 2018 (GX 
26); deposit slips 
related to the diversion 
of portions of the loan 
proceeds, (GX 27-28); 
and checks written on 
the account for 
relevant time periods, 
(GX 29-30) 

Business 
records 
affidavit or 
records 
custodian 

Fed. R. Evid. 803(6) (business records) 

31 Chart showing tracing 
of IBC Bank working 
capital loan proceeds 

John 
Whitworth 

Fed. R. Evid. 1006.  Summary evidence is 
admissible when (1) the charts fairly 
summarize voluminous trial evidence, (2) 

Case 2:21-cr-00025-Z-BR   Document 42   Filed 09/21/21    Page 9 of 17   PageID 176Case 2:21-cr-00025-Z-BR   Document 42   Filed 09/21/21    Page 9 of 17   PageID 176



7 

 

they assist the jury in understanding 
testimony already introduced, and (3) the 
witness who prepared the charts is subject 
to cross-examination with all documents 
used to prepare the summary.  United 
States v. Spires, 628 F.3d 1049, 1052-
1053 (8th Cir. 2011).   
 
 

32 Graph comparing the 
account balance to the 
cumulative deposits of 
IBC Bank working 
capital loan proceeds, 
in Prosperity Bank 
account x7569, over 
time 

John 
Whitworth 

Fed. R. Evid. 1006 (summary exhibits) 

33-38 Plea agreement, plea 
agreement 
supplement, and 
factual resume of 
cooperating witnesses 
Shane Smith, (GX 33-
38), and Steve 
Reinhart, (GX 36-38). 

Shane Smith 
and Steve 
Reinhart 

Fed. R. Evid. 609 (impeachment by 
conviction of crime punishable by more 
than one year); see also United States v. 
Edelman, 873 F.2d 791, 795 (5th Cir. 
1989) (admission of a plea agreement in 
which the witness has agreed to testify 
truthfully is not improper bolstering). 

39-47 Emails among Reagor, 
Smith, and others 

Shane Smith The emails will be authenticated under 
Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(1) by a person with 
knowledge and are admissible under Fed. 
R. Evid. 401 and 801(d)(2). 
 

48-51 Recordings of Reagor 
speaking at internal 
RDAG meetings 

Shane Smith The recordings will be authenticated under 
Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(1) by a person with 
knowledge or can be otherwise 
authenticated based on a witness’s 
knowledge of the item, the item’s own 
distinctive characteristics, and the 
circumstances of the item’s discovery[.]”   
United States v. Ceballos, 789 F.3d 607, 
617–18 (5th Cir. 2015).  These recordings 
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are admissible under Fed. R. Evid. 401, 
801(d)(2), or 404(b). 

52-55 Timelines for RDAG 
entities/ significant 
events related to 
RDAG’s financial 
status and IBC loan  

John 
Whitworth 

Fed. R. Evid. 1006 (summary exhibits) 

56 Stipulation of IBC’s 
FDIC status 

By 
stipulation 

By stipulation 

57 July 30, 2018 email 
from Smith to defense 
counsel re: “Reagor 
Dykes Situation” 

Shane Smith The emails will be authenticated under 
Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(1) by a person with 
knowledge and are admissible under Fed. 
R. Evid. 613. 

 

 As indicated above, the government intends to offer into evidence four video 

recordings of Reagor.  (GX 48-51.)  Each video is a very short clip of lengthier Reagor 

expositions related to his company and himself.  For example, in one video, Reagor 

explains to his sales team that he is successful and became wealthy through “OPM”—i.e., 

“other people’s money.”  (GX 48.)  In this clip, Reagor explains that he used “OPM” to 

build his net worth.  (GX 48.)  In another clip, Reagor tells his employees that he does 

whatever he wants, that nothing is an accident, and that he does everything “on purpose.”  

(GX 49, 50.)  In the final video, Reagor boasts of his wealth and accoutrements of 

success.  (GX 51.)   

These statements are not “acts,” nor are they evidence of any “other crime [or] 

wrong” within the meaning of Fed. R. Evid. 404(b)(1).  Standing alone, these statements 

do not evince that Reagor committed a crime or participated in any wrongdoing.  They 
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are simply statements of the defendant that are relevant to his motive, plan, knowledge, 

intent, and lack of accident or mistake in the instant case.  Accordingly, the statements 

should be admissible under the general relevance rule set forth in Fed. R. Evid. 401 

and/or as the statement of a defendant under Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(2). 

Should the Court disagree, the government, in an abundance of caution, has 

provided notice of its intent to offer these recordings under Fed. R. Evid. 404(b)(2).  

In United States v. Beechum, the Fifth Circuit “outlined a two-step test to determine the 

admissibility of evidence of a defendant’s prior wrongful acts.”  United States v. 

Cheramie, 51 F.3d 538, 541 (5th Cir. 1995) (citing United States v. Beechum, 582 F.2d 

898 (5th Cir. 1978) (en banc)).  “Under Beechum, evidence of extrinsic offenses is 

admissible if it is (1) relevant to an issue other than the defendant’s character, and (2) the 

incremental probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger 

of unfair prejudice to the defendant.”  Cheramie, 51 F.3d at 541 (citing Beechum, 582 

F.2d at 911).  In United States v. Shaw, 701 F.2d 367 (5th Cir. 1983), abrogated on other 

grounds by Greer v. Miller, 483 U.S. 756 (1987), the Fifth Circuit explained: 

Rule 404 is a rule of inclusion, which admits evidence of other acts relevant 
to a trial issue except where such evidence tends to prove only criminal 
disposition.  The rule is exclusionary only as to evidence admitted to 
establish bad character as such; it very broadly recognizes admissibility of 
prior crimes for other purposes. 

 
Id. at 386 (citations omitted). 
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 The government anticipates that Reagor will argue that he lacked the requisite 

intent to defraud or mislead the bank related to the loan.  Thus, Reagor’s statements are 

relevant to proof of his intent, knowledge, and plan—i.e., his admitted practice of using 

“OPM” to increase his personal net worth.  The statements also demonstrate the absence 

of mistake or lack of accident since Reagor stated that he does everything “on purpose.”  

The statements also give insight regarding Reagor’s motive as he describes the trappings 

of success and wealth that he has amassed.  Accordingly, should the court determine that 

these statements qualify as prior bad acts under Fed. R. Evid. 404(b)(1), they are 

nonetheless admissible under Rule 404(b)(2) for the limited purposes described therein. 

D. The government’s proof on the elements of the crimes charged  

The government will present evidence to prove each of the elements of the 

offenses charged in the indictment as follows:   

Bank Fraud (Counts One and Two) 

Elements 
 

Proof 

1. The defendant knowingly executed 
scheme or artifice. 

 

• Testimony from Smith, Reinhart, 
and Dawson regarding RDAG’s 
negative floor-plan audit, weak 
cash position, and need for 
working capital 

• Testimony from Thompson, Smith, 
and Reinhart regarding Reagor’s 
efforts to obtain a commercial loan 

• Testimony from Schonacher, 
Woodring, Reinhart, and Smith 
regarding Reagor’s meeting with 
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IBC executives and representations 
made therein 

• Testimony from Smith regarding 
Reagor’s email directing that a 
portion of the loan disbursement be 
diverted to him personally 

• IBC records (GX 1-15) 
• FirstCapital records (GX 16-23) 
• Prosperity records (GX 24-30) 
• Summary exhibits showing 

disbursement of loan proceeds and 
balances in Reagor’s personal 
account over time (GX 31-32) 

• Reagor emails, including email 
directing a portion of the loan 
proceeds be diverted to him 
personally (GX 39-47) 

• Reagor videoclips (GX 48-51) 
• Timelines of relevant 

RDAG/Reagor events (GX 52-55) 
 

2. The scheme or artifice was executed to 
obtain money or other property from a 
financial institution, as alleged in the 
indictment. 

 

• Testimony from Schonacher, 
Woodring, and Hutchison 
regarding the represented purpose 
of the loan and IBC’s status as a 
financial institution 

 
3. The scheme or artifice was executed 

by means of false or fraudulent 
pretenses, false or fraudulent 
representations, or false or fraudulent 
promises. 

 

• Testimony from Schonacher, 
Woodring, Thompson, Smith, and 
Reinhart regarding Reagor’s 
meeting with IBC representatives, 
including representations made 
therein, and RDAG’s need for 
working capital 

• Testimony from Hutchison 
regarding “use of funds” and 
drafting of the loan agreement 

• IBC records (GX 1-15) 
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• Summary exhibits (GX 31-32) 
• Reagor emails (GX 39-47) 
• Reagor videoclips (GX 48-51) 
• Timelines (GX 52-55) 

 
4. The false or fraudulent pretenses, 

representations, or promises were 
material.  
 

• Testimony from Schonacher, 
Woodring, and Hutchison 
regarding the purpose of the loan 
and how knowledge that portions 
of the loan would be immediately 
diverted to Reagor personally 
would have impacted the 
decisional process 

 

False Statement to a Bank (Count Three) 

Elements 
 

Proof 

 
1. The defendant made a false statement 

to International Bank of Commerce, as 
charged 
 

 
• Testimony from Schonacher and 

Woodring regarding IBC meeting 
with Reagor 

• Testimony from Smith and 
Reinhart regarding RDAG’s weak 
cash position, need for working 
capital, and efforts to obtain a 
commercial loan 

• IBC records, including the loan 
document showing the loan’s 
purpose was for “working capital” 
(GX 1-15) 

• FirstCapital records (GX 16-23) 
• Prosperity records (GX 24-30) 
• Summary exhibits showing 

disbursement of loan proceeds and 
balances in Reagor’s personal 
account over time (GX 31-32) 
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• Reagor emails, including email 
directing a portion of the loan 
proceeds be diverted to him 
personally (GX 39-47) 

• Reagor videoclips (GX 48-51) 
• Timelines of relevant 

RDAG/Reagor events (GX 52-55) 
 

2. The defendant knew the statement was 
false when the defendant made it; 
 

 

• Testimony from Schonacher, 
Woodring, and Smith about 
meeting with Reagor 

• IBC records (GX 1-15) 
• Reagor emails (GX 39-47) 
• Reagor videoclips (GX 48-51) 
• Timelines of relevant 

RDAG/Reagor events (GX 52-55) 
3. The defendant did so for the purpose 

of influencing a lending action of the 
institution, convincing the bank to give 
the defendant a loan for working 
capital; and 

 

• Testimony from Schonacher, 
Woodring, Thompson, Smith, and 
Reinhart  

• IBC records (GX 1-15) 
• Reagor emails (GX 39-47) 
• Reagor videoclips (GX 48-51) 

 
 

4. The International Bank of Commerce 
was federally insured 
 

• Testimony from Schonacher or 
Woodring 

• FDIC stipulation (GX 56) 
 

E. Potential defense issues 

 The government has not yet received Reagor’s witness list but anticipates that he 

may intend to introduce testimony from Rick Dykes and/or Rachel Reagor.  Both 

individuals were targets in government’s fraud investigation of RDAG and individuals 

associated therewith.  Neither Dykes nor R. Reagor has been charged with any crime; 

Case 2:21-cr-00025-Z-BR   Document 42   Filed 09/21/21    Page 16 of 17   PageID 183Case 2:21-cr-00025-Z-BR   Document 42   Filed 09/21/21    Page 16 of 17   PageID 183



14 

 

nonetheless, based on the evidence adduced during the investigation, the Court should 

instruct each of them, outside the presence of the jury and before providing any sworn 

testimony, of their Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination. 

Respectfully submitted, 

      PRERAK SHAH 
      ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
 

s/ Amy Burch                   
Amanda (Amy) R. Burch 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Texas State Bar No. 24031900 
1205 Texas Avenue, Suite 700 
Lubbock, Texas 79401 
Telephone:  806-472-7322 
Facsimile:  806-472-7394 
E-mail: amy.burch@usdoj.gov 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that on September 21, 2021, I filed this document with the clerk of court 

for the U.S. District Court, Northern District of Texas, which generated electronic service 

to Reagor’s counsel of record. 

s/ Amy Burch                                    
Amanda (Amy) R. Burch 
Assistant United States Attorney 
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